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QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Question 1: Whether a manifest miscarriage of justice occurred on
the face of Count One's conspiracy indictment to commit bank fraud
in violation of the Grand Jury Clause, the Indictment Clause, and
the Due Process Clause of equal protection of the laws of the ..
Fifth Amendment guaranteed requirement of a valid indictment by a
grand jury, and the Notice Clause of the Sixth Amendment guaran-
teed right to be informed of the nature of the accusations against him?

Question 2: Whether Count One conspiracy to commit bank fraud
failed to comply with the statutory jurisdictional prerequisite
requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1344 was a failure of the indictment
to confer and/or invoke subject matter jurisdiction upon the Di-
strict Court?

Question 3: Whether the Government's admission that. it failed to
prove the underlying bank fraud conspiracy scheme and the require-
ment of the FDIC-insured status was a clear and obvious failure

to establish subject matter jurisdiction and a usurpation of the
District Court's inherent power?

Question 4: Whether the District Court's conduct amounted to a
manifest abuse of discretion and its inherent power to find want
of subject matter jurisdiction through the Commerce Clause con-
tained in Article I in order to circumvent the court's subject
matter jurisdiction power contained in Article III?

Question 5: Whether it was a manifest miscarriage of justice and
manifest abuse of discretion by the District Court's constructive
“amendment of the indictment in Count One conspiracy through the
jury instructions in. order to circumvent the court's subject mat-
ter jurisdiction limitations by redacting the essential elements
and jurisdictional prerequisite of the indictment's underlying
bank fraud conspiracy scheme in violation of: Petitionmer's Fifth
Amendment right to a valid indictment as charged by a grand jury,
his Due Process right to a fair notice of charges, and his Sixth
Amendment right to a jury trial requiring proof beyond a reason-
able doubt of the crime charged in the indictment?

Question 6: Whether a manifest miscarriage of justice occurred on
the face of the manufactured barebones tax fraud indictment in
Counts One and Three for failing to state an offense in violation
of the Grand Jury Clause, the Indictment Clause, and the Due Pro-
cess Clause of equal protection of the laws of the Fifth Amend-
ment guaranteed requirement of a valid indictment by a grand jury
and the Notice Clause of the Sixth Amendment guaranteed right to
be informed of charges?



Question 7: Whether pro-se litigants are afforded the very ident-
ical liberty protection by the Fifth Amendment's Due Process
Clause - which guarantees every person equal protection of the
law - as litigants who are priviledged to be represented by coun-
sel throughout post-conviction proceedings? If so, whether the
panel violated Petitioner's Fifth Amendment Constitutional Rights
by intentionally treating Petitioner differently from other simi-
larly situated litigants without any rational basis in a wrongful
denial of Petitioner's jurisdictional defect and insufficiency of
the evidence claims?
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SUBJECT MATTER JﬁRISDICTION THRESHOLD QUESTION
Prior to reviewing each of the QuestionslPresented-for Re-

view and before considering or addressing the merits of this Writ,

Petitioner would first point out that he is claiming, challenging,

and questioning whether the face of Count One underlying conspi-
racy to commit bank fraud indictment (See Appx. P. 6) and tax -

fraud indictment (See Appx. P. 28) failed to confer and/or invoke

4subject matter jurisdiction upon the District Court?

This Writ has been'filed because both theADistrict and'Ap—
pellate Courts have continually acted in the clear absence of all
subject matter jurisdiction, disregarding long established Suprems
Court and Fifth Circuit precedent, that matters involving FDIC-
insured financial institutions trunp the general rules governing
federal jurisdiction. They seek’to-champion'the notion that Peti-
tioner's guilty verdict was validly obtained, déspite all Counts

in both the bank and tax fraud indictments being facially void on

‘their face for failing to allege in a written statement the essen-

tial factuél éleménts of an offensé, the jurisdictional prerequi--
site of the victim financial institutiona's name, and the FDICf
insured status to confer jurisdiction upon the"District.Court.
Namely, Count One underlying conspiracy to commit bank fraud in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §'1344. This Court's precedent holds, fThe'
Supreme Court, as well as the'Appellate Court, 1is obliged to con-
sider a question raised before it for the first time that a Di-
strict Court lacked subjéct.matter'jurisdiction.” See Mt. Healthy
v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 {1977). "on every writ of error or appeal
the first and fundaméntal question is that of jurisdiction, first

of this court, and then of the court from which the record comes.
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This question the court is bound to ask.and answer for itself.ﬁ
Steel Co. v. Gitizens for a Better Env't, 523 U.5. 83, 95 (1998).
"Because subject matter jurisdiction is a non-waivable threshold
question of law, it must be resolved by this Court one way or
another before the Court can proceed to a disposition on the
 merits." See Id. |

A court s adJudlcatlve Jurlsdlctlon to convict Petitionmer
of a federal crime cannot exist in the absence of Congress' le-
‘glslatlve Jurlsdlctlon to criminalize the partlcular of whlch the
defendant is accused See Salinas v. U:.S., 522 U.S. 52, 54 (1997)
"Courts in applylng crlmlnal laws generally must follow the plain
and unamblguous meaning of the underlying statutory language Id.
In Count One of the underlying conspiracy to commit bank fraud;
the relevant.statutory language under § 1344 requ1red the Govern-
ment to allege in the indictment and prove in trial the identity
of a named "federally insured financial institution's" FDIC-
insured status to confer and establish subject matter. jurisdic-
tion-upon the District Court. See Loughrin v. U.S}; 573 U.S. 351,
356 (2014). It's irrefutable the language in § 1344 is plain and
unambiguous, thereby, the District Court was fully aware of the
Government s exp11c1t requirements to prove spe01f1c finding of
crlmlnallty with regard to the conspiracy that was 1ncorporated
into every Count of both the bank and tax fraud cases (Sée Appx.
_P. 86-87). Although the core of criminality in the entireness of
this case was to defraud federally insured financial 1nst1tut10ns,
no crlmlnallty ‘can be attached to Petltloner, by the Government s

own adm1881on in its Response, it made no effort to prove the

bank fraud.conspiracy (See Appx. P. 32-33).
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'Petitiener first raised the question'of the District Courtls
lack of subject matter jurisdiction on July 3, 2017 and a second
time on July 23, 2018. Both motions went unaddressed and were ut'
still pending at the time the panel closed-Petitionerfs case with-
- out ever addressing or ruling on whether the District Court lacked
,subject'matter jurisdiction. This threshold question remains un-
'_addressed{(See Appx. P. 64-66). "If the panel or prior panel did
not address the'threshold auestion of SUbjeet‘matter jurisdiction,
then the panel cannot be regarded as having ruled on it..." Steel
Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't, 523 U.S. 83, 93-102 (1998).

: Consequently, before this Court is a straight forward'subject mat-
ter ]urisdlction threshold question presenting no complex question
of federal law, that can be resolved on the face of: (1) the four
corners of the manufactured barebones 1nd1ctment in Count One Con-
spiracy to commit bank fraud (See Appx. P. 28=30); (2) Counts One
’and Three ijn the tax fraud indictments (See Appx. P. 6); (3) the
Distrlct Court s Memorandum Dec181on assuming "hypothetical Juris-.
diction" ruling that "federal jurisdiction was established through
the commerée-elause," but failed to determine whether subject mat-
ter jurisdiction erists in Count One conspiracy to commit bank
fraud (See Appx. P. 43-44); (4) the Governmment's admission in its
Response that it failed to prove thelunderlying bank fraud conspi-
racy and the FDIC-insured status jurisdiction prerequisite (See
Appx. P. 32-335. On its.face, the_conspiracy indictment fails to
allege an appropriate basis for the exercise of federal jurisdic-
tion. Petitioner had a constitutional right not to be haled into
court where there was no federal crime charged, a right that can-

not be vindicated after trial.



Courts have no discretion to ignore the fact that no set of cir-'
cumstances exists on the face of the indictments under whlch the
law would be valid. Petltloner was not on trlal 1n ‘a state court
where general allegatlons of a bank fraud conSplracy mlght suf-
fice. Instead, Petitioner was on trial in federal court whose Ju-
risdiction was limited to trying violationm of federal laws. Here,
specifically, an.underlying‘conspiracy to commit Bank'fraud in |
‘violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1349 and § 1344. Jurisdiction was
not affirmatively appearing on the face of the indictment, it was
simply never present. (See Appx. P. 6)

The face of Ceunt One underlying censpiracy to commit bank
~fraud charged, "Brooks conspired to agree to devise a scheme
(§ 1349) to defraud one or more 'federally insured financial in-
stitutions' (§ 1344(1)) and obtain money based on fraudulent pre-
tenses'(§'1é44(2)) by use of mail (§’1341) aﬁd wire transfers
(§ 1343) contrary to Title 18 U.S.C. § 1341, § 1343, § 1344, and
2." See e. g., U.S. v. Davis, 735 F.3d 194, 199 (5th Cir. 2013)

- The Federal Conspiracy Statute prescribes an agreement to
v1olate the law, 18 U. S.C. § 1349; (The essentlal element of a
conspiracy is that the obJect of the agreement must be illegal. ").
Conspiracy is an inchoate offense usually defined as an agreement
between two or more persons to commit an unlawful act or to
achieve a lawful end by illegal meahs. See Lannelli v;‘United |
States, 420 U.S. 770, 777 (1975). It's irrefutable the agreement
in Count One was to defraud "federally insured financial institu-
tions." |

Furthermore, durlng the jury selection and voir dire hea-

rlng, the District Court valldated and explalned to the jury pool
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members that "this becomes a federal case for many reasons. But '
one of tHe reasons is that these federal banks or some of these
‘victims éfe iﬁsured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Céréoraﬁion."
(See Appx. P. 69-70) Thereupon, all participants in the procée-
dings, including both Trial and Appellate counsel, the District
and Appellate Cburts failed‘to recognize that the federal juris-4

. I
diction basis for which the Petitioner, counsel, jury and the

. courts believed federal subject matter jurisdiction rested was

that the Petitioner defrauded a federally insufed financial in--
stitution.

The stage has been set'in this case by the District Court,
Government and the indictment by alleging the core issﬁé of cri-
minality was an underlying conspiracy scheme devised by Brooks to
defraud "federally insured finéncial institutions" who were pro-
tected by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation at the time
of the fraud. By obtaining a narrow indictment, the Government li=-
mited the basis upon which Petitioner could be convicted of the
underlying conspiracy. Specificaliy to commit bank fraud in vio-
lation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344. The law is well settled, the Govern-
ment made ''federally insured finarcial institution” an essential
element and the jurisdictional pferequisite of the offense by fra-
~ ming the indictment as it did. See Loughrin, 573 U.S. at 356; and

" U.S. v. Platenburg, 657 F.2d 797, 799 (Sth Cir. 1981).

This Court holds, "It is a principle of first importance
that federal courts are of limited subject matter jurisdiction,
possessing only that bower authorized by the Constitution and by
federal statute." Gunn v. Minton, 568 U.S. 251 (2013). Congress

created an additional statutory jurisdictional requirement and
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separate limitations of the bistrict Court's subject matter ju-
risdiction under Title 18 U.S.C. § 1344 of the Bank Fraud Act in
1984‘that the federally insured financial institution dépdsits
are insured by the FDIC at issue be subject to the jurisdiction
of the United States, above and beyond.general jurisdiction re-
guirements imposed upon District Courts by Title 18 U.S.C. § 3231.
See 18 U.S.C. § 26 and 12 U.S.C. § 1813(c)(2). "Statutes esta-.
blishing jurisdiction for FDIC mattérs trump the general rules
governing federal subject matterfjurisdiction and the statutory
‘provisions'define a federal court's jurisdiction to hear cases
" involving the FDIC," such as in the instant case 18 U.S.C. § 1344.
Lindley v. FDIC, 733 F.3d 1043, 1049 (2013). Furthermore, "An in-
dictment could also fail to invoke criminal subject matter juris-
diction by failing t0'comp1y with another statutorf jurisdictional
requiremént," such as § 1344 FDIC-insured status reguirement. ‘See
Loughrin v. U.S., 573 U.S. 351, 356 (2014); U.S. v. Davis, 735
F.3d 194, 198 (2013); and Sealed Juvenile 1, 225 F.3d 507, 508~
09 (5th>Cir. 2000); "The failure to allege the element whicn P
establishes the very illegality of the behavior and the court's
jurisdintion is fatal to the indictment." Russell, 369 U.S. at
764. Petitioner's criminal conviction cannot be upheld if the in-
dictment upon which it is based does not set forth the.essential
eleméents of the underlying conspiracy of fense to.commit bank
fraud. See Hamling v. U.S., 418 U.S. 87 (1974); Loughrin 573
U.S. at 356.

This might just be a case of first impression that "shocks"
the conscious" in a way that no other federal criminal case in

which a sequence of events occurred. Wherefore, the core of cri-
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minality in the entireness of the instant case was Based on Coﬁnt
'Oné bank fraud scheme to defraud an unnamed or unidentified "fe-
 deral1y insured_finéncial institution" at an undiscloséd_lodation,
date, and FDIC-insured status prerequisite to invoke the District
Court's subjéct matter jurisdiction. Count One on its face mékes
no attempt to allege any essential factual elements and én appro-
priaté’sufficient juriédictional basis for the:exercise of fede-
ral jurisdiction. Subject matter jurisdiction was simply never
present and cannot be expanded by judicial decree. See Steel‘Co.,
523 U.S. at 94. "A criminal conviction cannot be upheld if the
indictﬁent upon which if is based does not set forth the essen-
tial elements of the offense." See Russell, 369 U.S. at 764;;

. Therefore, "a valid indictment is the necessary foundation of and
predicate for a felony prosecution,{éonviction of sentence. If the
indictment is defective, the entire conviciton and sentence fails."
See U.S. v. Villamonte-Marquez, 462 U.S. 579, 597 (1983).

Déspite Supreme Court and the_Panel's own Fifth Circuit ex-
plicif and clear precedent,_the District Court and Panel inten-
tionally disregarded the plain meaning of the statutory languégé_-
in § 1344. it's irrefutable and»cléarly obvious on the face of
the void indictment, the District Court and Panel failed to exa-
‘mine the face of‘the indictment and address its failure to comply
with Congréss' imposed Article III statutory prerequisite to the‘
court's'sﬁbjecf matter'jurisdiction as set forth in the statutory
provision of § 1344. It's irrefutable § 1344 in Count One is being
unéonstitutionally applied in the instanf/case. The indictment
clearly failed to identify the federal interest served by this

exercise of federal jurisdiction over the essential criminality of



the instant case. Thereby, ?etitioner would ask‘this Court to
determine whether the Government, District and Appellate Courts
violated Petitioner's Fifth and Sixth Amendment Constitutional
‘vRights, the Due Process Clause and'Equal Protection Ciause, by
acting in the clear absence of all subject matter jurisdiction,
by 1nd1ct1ng, conv1ct1ng, and sentencing Petitloner to 135 months
~in prison, w1thout alleging in a written statement the essentlal
factual elements of a federal criminal offense‘against the United
States to confer and/or invoke subject matter jurisdiction upon
the District Court. Moreover, whether the'Appellate Court commit-
ted a manifest abuse of discretion by faillng to examine the face
of the four cornmers of the manufactured barebones indictments and
address whether or not it found mant of subject matter jurisdie-
tion by the District Court. It's a fundamental princinle'of law
.‘that a valid‘indictment can recite the statutory language, but a
written statement of the offense must also be included in the in-
-+ dictment. See Fed. R. Crim. P; 7(c) and Russeli'v; u.s., 369 U.S.

- 749, 763- 65 (1962) For this reason both the conspiracy and tax

..fraud indictments rec1t1ng Verbatlm the statute alone fails to -
'confer and/or invoke subJect matter Jurisdlction upon the District
Court. Regardless of the shortcomings of the charge, as laid 1n
‘Count One conspiracy indictment, Counts One & Three in the tax
fraud indictment, somehow a case was made out.

Even though Petitiomer did not raise his: argument in direct

appeal this argument has not been waived. Matters of jurisdic-
tion may be raised at any tlme, because if a court lacks subJect

matter jurisdiction, it does not have the power to hear the case.



Article III of the Constitution JIf an indictment "fails to show
Jurisdictlon in the court or to charge an offense,' such objec-.v
tions shall be noticed by the court at any time during the pen--
dency‘of tne proceedings." Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b). The court is
obligated‘to address this matter. Tnis subject matter jurisdic-
.tion-threshold'question of law is a legal issue-that'derives from‘
this Court s doctrlne that: (1) SubJect matter Jurlsdlction is a
threshold question-of law that must be addressed prior to and in-
dependent of the merits. "'"'We examine the subject matter: jurisdic-
'tion of the trial court as a threshold matter before considering
the merits of the appeal " Steel Co.,.523 U.S. at 94; (2) “Federal
subJect matter Jurlsdlctlon is determined by the face of the well
_vpieaded complaint." See Phillips Petroleum Co. v, Texaco Imnc., 415
U.S. 125, 127-28 (1974); (3) "Fnrther, all well pleaded allega-
tions must. be taken as true for purposes of determinlng the exi-
stance of federal jurisdiction." See Goosby v. Ossen, 409 U. S

512, 521 (1973); (4) Subject matter jurisdiction cannot be for-
feited or waived by Petitioner and cannot be assumed, ignored, or
~ disregarded by the courts, because it'involves a court's power to
hear a case. Consequently, "A'defect in Article III standing is a
defect in subject matter jurisdiction that can be raised in Di-
strict COUi’f." U.s. v. Cotton, 535'.U.s. 625, 630 (2002); (5) "With-
out jurisdiction the court cannot proceed at all.in any cause.

| Jurisdiction is power to declare the law, and when it ceases to
exist the only function remaining to the;coort is that of announ-
cing the fact and_dismissing,the case." Steel Co., 523 U.S. at 94;
(6)ANo formal motion is needed to raise the issue‘and objection

to subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time at either
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trial or appellate level. 5A CharlesAAlaniWright & Arthur R. Mil-
ler, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1393, at 773-75 (2nd Ed.
1990); (7) "If the indictment is void on its face, it can be at-
tacked at any time by filing a Motion to Dlsmlss ‘to vacate the
sentence."_Hcliday,v. Johnson, 313 U.S. 342, 550 (1941) and; (8)
In considering a Motion to Dismiss Indictment for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction, 'the court.must examine the face of the in-
dictment and accept its factual allegations as true, but not its
legal conclusions." See Ashcroft v. Igbar, 556 U.S. 662, 678
(2009). "The court may not look beyohd the face of the four cor--
ners of the 1nd1ctment to the sufficiency of the ev1dence " U.S.
v. Scruggs, 691 F.3d 660, 668 (5th Cir. 2012). As the District
Court looked-beyond the face of the indictment to determlne in the
memorandum order that, "federal jurisdiction was established
through the commerce clause because the e&idence showed..." (See
Appx. P. 43). | |
Thereby, in accordance with this Court's doctrine, this Writ
raises the threshold questioh of whether the District Court lachs
subject matter'jurisdiction based strictly on historical binding
Supreme Court precedent that, "'standing is.the most important ju-
risdictional doctrine, becaﬁse federal courts are powerless to
COnsider,the merits of the case when it lacks subject matter ju-.
risdiction." U.S. v. Hays,‘515 u.s. 737, 742 (1995). In a criminal
case federal courts are under an independent obligation and legal
duty to examine the four corners of the face of ‘the indictment to.
determine whether subject matter Jurisdlction exists. The District
and Appellate Courts refuse to examine the indictments and address

Petitiqneris threshold question, choosing to remain 511ent.
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It is irrefutable § 1344 defines the boundaries of the

~ courts. Section 1344 warrants the Court's attention because it
raises jurisdictional questions and claims. Questions concerning
the scope of jurisdictionél Article III éourts are of critical -
importance. It is a fundamental precept that federal jurisdiction,
"whether imposed by the Constitution or Congress, must be neither
disregarded nor evaded.'" Owen Equip. & Erection Co. v. Kroger, 437
U.S. 365, 374 (1978). If not addressed and corrected, the juris-
dictional defect would resqlt in a manifest miscarriage of justice.
Depriving Petitioner of his Fifth Amendment Rights to a valid in-
dictment and‘Sixth Amendment Righfs to be informed of the nature
of the accusation against him. This case presents no compelling
reason for thé Disfrict and Appellate Courts to ignore Congress'
explicit intention and.refusal to exercise federal jurisdiction

- over bank related crimes, without establishing the financial in-
stitution's FDIC-insured status at the_time of the alleged offense.
"A court's pdwer'to adjudicate a federal criminal prosecution
comes from 18 U.S;C; § 3231; however, § 3231 cannot function to
give District Courts the power to try and sentence Petitioner for
a cfime with which he is not charged. Section 3231 gi&es the di- |
étrict courts original jurisdiétion over crimes against the Uni-
ted States, but it does’not give a district court the power to
sentence a defendant for a crime of its own choosing. Such a rule
would leave the district court with the functional power to de-
fine its sentencing jurisdiction subject only to the limits of

its own imagination. As the Second Circuit explained, such a rule

~would allow prosecutors to avoid the jurisdictional prerequisite

of a grand jury indictment by charging any federal offense at all,
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and then proceeding to prosecute the defendant for‘a,diffefeut pff
fense. See U.S. v. Tran, 234 F. 3d 798, 808 (2nd Cir. 2600) Which'
is exactly what the prosecutor accompllshed in the 1nstant case.

The Government in this case knew at the time the 1nd1ctment
was obtained that no amount of evidence at trial would’ be suffl-
cient to convict Petltloner of a Section 1349 bank fraud CODSpl-4
racy. It is beyond cav1l that the Government's prosecutorlal po-‘
sition was foreclosed by the binding precedent in. the Fifth Cir-
cuit not only when the Government brought the indidtment; but also
throughout the presentation of its case-in-chief, tﬁe en-
- tire proceedings. Prosecuting Petitioner in defiance of controlling
authority constitutes 'vexatious", "frivolous", and "bad faith"
prosecutions.

Where the District Court acts in the clear absence of all
subject matter.jurisdiction, the Appellate Court does not have
discretion not to notice the clear and obvious error, even if de-
-fendant failed to raise the issue, it must be cofrected. Despite
this Court's precedent the Panei in the instant case have ignored,
disregarded, and avoided its required independant obligation and
legal duty to examine the face of the four corners of the indict-
ment to assess the court's subJect matter jurisdiction and address
Petitioner's threshold question of whether the District Court
lacked subject matter jufisdiction. The Supreme Court's precedent
in Steel Co., Loughrin, and Feola are binding and has direct app-
lication in the instant caee..This Court's precedent also holds;
"If a precedent of this Court has direct application in a caee the

District and Appellate courts are bound by Supréame Court decizi ..

sions." See Agostini v. Felton, 512 U.s. 203, 238 (1997).
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; .
Regarding thg'sécond.indictment for Aiding in tﬁe Prepara;
tion of a‘Faléé Téx Return pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2), fﬁe
Government intentionally misled both the grand jury and the Di-
strict Court into bélieving tﬁey had territorial»jurisdiction to -
iﬁaict and try Petitioher for the aileged Tax Fraud érime. The
deception is clear on fhe face of the indictment (See Appk. P.
28-30) because the Covernment alleges the crimes'occurred_in the
Western District of Texas and the District of Utah, but ﬁhey do
not ailege the essential factual elements in a written statement'
of an offenée committed by Petitioner that construed the alleged
crime. Further, after'thé Government presented its case on this
indictment, it was.batently clear that no evidence was introduced
linkiﬁg_Petitioner to committinglaﬁy Tax Fraud crime in the We?
' stern District of Texaé or the District of Utah. As a result, this
indictment shéuld have been dismissed for lack of territorial ju-
‘risdiction. U.S. v. Cores, 356 U.S. 405, 407 (1958) and U.S. v.
Gessa, 856 F.3d 370, 372 (5th Cir. 2017). Remarkably, the Govern-
‘ment tries to claim Petitioner waiVed venue prior to trial when it
gave him the option of either béing tried in San Antonio or Austin,
which are both located in the Western Diétrict of Texas (See Appx.
P. 75480). Worse, at the time the'option was given to Petitionér,
“thé Government had not revealed it had no evidence of the Tax
Fraud érime being committed in the Western District of Téxas.
An Appellate Court that sees that the District Court pro-
‘ceeded without subject matter jurisdicfion must correct the error -
' eveﬁ if neither party brought it to the court's attention. Peti-

‘tiomer not only brought the lack of subject matter jurisdiction
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claim to the Disﬁrict Court, Petitioner also brought the>elaim to
‘the Appellate Court's attention in his Writ of Mandamus; COA peti-
tion, and Motion to Dismiss Indictment for Lack'ef Subject Matter
Jurisdiction. "An Appellete.00urt must thice.such a flaw even if
the issue was raised in neither the District‘Court hor on:appeal."
Stirone v. U.S., 361 U.S. 212 (1960). Three different panels, nine
(9) differenh'HonorablevJudges in the Fifth Circuit have failed to
conduct its independent obligation to examine the face of the in-
dictment and address Petitioner's laek'of subjeet matter jurisdic-
tion claims throughout the proceedihge. They have intentionally
disregarded-their independent obligation and legal duty to exa-
mine the face of the indictments in order to avoid the threshold
question of the court’ s subject matter Jurlsdlctlon. "The Appel-
,1ate_Court does not have the_dlscretlon not to notice and correct
the error, it must notice and correct the efror. Any rule or de-
cision allowing a federal court to act without subject matter ju-
~risdiction conflicts ifreconciable'with.the basic pfinciples of |
federal court authority," one of which the District and Appellafe
Court's position intentionally ignores entirely. See Cottonm, 535
U.S. at 630. | S

The Dlstrlct and Appellate Courts- hav1ng rendered ‘a: Judgment
for Petitioner under these circumstances is surprising, and it is
not too much to say that it presents a case of judicial insubor-
dination which deserves the reprehension of everyone who does not
wish to see public confldence in the certainty and good falth of

judicial'proceedings wholly destroyed.
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RELIEF SOUGHT

Petitioner prays for this Court to grant this writ of pro-
hibition and/or mandamus and vacate his judgment and conviction,
or in the alternative, grant writ directed to the Honorable Judge
Fred Biery, the United States District Court for the Western Di-
strict of Texas, and to the Honorable Judges: Edith B. Clement,
Gregg J. Costa, Patrick E. Higginbotham, Don R. Willett, Priscilla
R. Owen, Andrew S. Oldham, Thomas M. Reavley, Leslie H. Southwick,
Stephen A. Higginson, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Fifth Circuit, directing and compelling these respondents to im-
mediately dismiss the indictments and vacate the two judgments of
subject matter jurisdiction, lack of grand jury jurisdiction, ju-
risdictional defects for the indictments' failure to state an of-
fense and insufficiency of evidence of the banks FDIC-insured status.

UNAVAILABILITY OF RELIEF IN OTHER COURTS

It's not that no other court can grant the relief sought by
this petition; both the District and Appellate Courts have commit-
ted a manifest abuse of their discretion and inherent power in the
wrongful and summary denial of Petitioner's challenges to the Di-
strict Court's subject matter jurisdiction defect on the face of
the indictments. Petitioner filed a Writ of Certiorari with this
Court and it was denied as well. The Courts have disregarded their
legal obligation to examine the face of the manufactured barebones
indictment and assess the court's jurisdiction, adjudicate or ad-
dress the jurisdictional challenge, and correct the error.

UNSUITABILITY OF ANY OTHER FORM OF RELIEF

No other form of relief will be sufficient to dismiss the
indictments and vacate Petitioner's judgment of conviction to
protect Petitionmer's Fifth Amendment Right to a valid indictment
by a grand jury of Due Process and equal protection of the laws.
As well as Petitioner's Sixth Amendment Right to a Jury Trial re-
quiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the crime charged in
the indictment. Petitioner has exhausted all forms of relief in
the District Court, filing motions to dismiss for lack of subject
matter jurisdiction and 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Filed motions to dismiss
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction for invalid indictment and
petition for COA in the Appellate Court. Filed a petition for Writ
of Certiorari in the Supreme Court. The Federal Courts all wrong-
fully and summarily denied Petitioner without examining, reviewing,
or addressing the District Court's lack of subject matter juris-
diction threshold question. The Federal courts have failed to find
want of subject matter jurisdiction and have intentionally dis-
regarded, ignored, and avoided Petitioner's question of the Di-
strict Court's subject matter jurisdiction throughout the pro-
ceedings. Petitioner has exhausted every form of legal remedy,
and there's no other form of relief available to Petitioner.
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CITATIONS OF LOWER COURTS DECISIONS

The April 20, 2016 order of the District Court for the Wes-
tern District of Texas, San Antonio ‘Division construed Petitio-
ner's Motion to Vacate for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as
a § 2255 motion without addressing the court's lack of subject
matter jurisdiction claim. A copy of this is attached in the
(Appx. P. 38-39). .

, The August 4, 2017 Order of the District Court for the Wes-
tern District of Texas summarily denied Motion to Vacate under 29
U.S.C. § 2255 and Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction is
‘attached in the Appendix P. 40-48. '

The August 16, 2017 Panel opinion of the Court of Appeals denyiﬁg
Writ of Mandamus for the jurisdictional defect and District Court
Lack of Jurisdiction is attached in the Appendix P. 55-56. ‘

The January 3, 2018 Order of the,Distriét Court for the Western
District of Texas summarily denied § 2255 Motion for Reconsidera-
tion is attached in the Appendix P. 49-52. )

Thelseptember 10, 2018 Panel opinion of the Court of Appeals
denying COA is attached in the Appendix P. 57-60.

The October 12, 2018 opinion of the Court of Appeals denying
Motion. for Reconsideration is attached in the Appendix P. .61.

The April 29, 2019 opinion of the Supreme Court denying Writ
of Certiorari is attached in the Appendix P. 63.

The July 31, 2019 Order of the Court of Appeals denied Mo-
tion to re-open case to address and rule on the District Court's
subject matter jurisdictiom in the two motions filed on July 3,
2017 and July 23, 2018. These were two separate motions; the 2017
motion was a factual challenge of the evidence and the 2018 motion
was a facial challenge of the indictment. Both motions were ig-
‘nored and not ruled on. (See Appx. P. 64-66) :

CONTROLLING PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND REGULATIONS

The Fifth Amendment provides,. in pertinent part: "No person
shall be held to answer for a capital crime... unless on a pre-
sentment or indictment of a grand jury... nor be deprived of...
property, without due process of law..." U.S. Constitution Amend-

ment VI.

" The Sixth Amendment provides, in pertinent part: "Reserves
jury trial right for prosecution of serious offenses... and gua-
rantees criminal defendants the right to effective assistance of

counsel." U.S. Constitution VI.
The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment protects

against deprivation of "life, liberty, or property without due
process of law. U.S. Constitution Amendment V. '
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‘The Equal Protection Clause of the Fifth Amendment's Due.
Process Clause contains within it the prohibition against denying
to any person the equal protection of the laws.

- The grand jury in pertinent part, 18 U.S.C. § 3332(a) pro-
vides: "It shall be the duty of each grand jury impaneled... to
inguire into offenses committed within that district of empanel-

ment.

: In conspiracy cases, the relevant statute is § 1349 of Title
18 of the United States Code. It provides: "Any person who at- .
tempts or conspires to commit any offense under this [Chapter 18
U.S.C. et seq.] shall be subject to the same penalties as those

prescribed for the offense,... 18 U.S.C. 1349.

In conspiracy cases, the relevant statute is 371 of Title 18
of the United States Code. It provides: "If two or more persons
conspire either to commit any offense against the United States,
or to defraud the United States, or any agency... 18 U.S.C. 371.

In bank fraud cases, in pertinent part, 18 U.S.C. § 1344
provides: "Whoever knowingly executes or attempts to execute a
'scheme or artifice (1) to defraud a financial institution; or (2)
to obtain any of the monies... under the custody or control of, a
financial institution by means of false or fraudulent pretenses...

In wire fraud cases, in pertinent part, 18 U.S.C. § 1343
provides: "Whoever having devised... (1) any scheme or artifice to
defraud; (2) with the intent to defraud, and (3) used or caused .
the use of, interstate wire transmissioms..." :

In mail fraud cases, in pertinent part, 18 U.S.C. § 1341
provides: "Whoever having devised... (1) any scheme or artifice-
to defraud; (2) with the intent to defraud, and (3) used or caused
the use of, mails..." : ' ‘

In aiding cases, in pertinent part, 18 U.S.C. § 2 provides
(1) "the substantive offense was committed by someone; (2) the
defendant committed an act which contributed to and furtherance
of the offense; and (3) the defendant intended to aid in its

commission." :

In aiding or assistance in tax fraud cases, in pertinent
part, 26 U.S.C. § 7206 (2) provides: "Assisting in the prepara-
tion of a fraudulent corporate tax return; and (2) filing a false
individual income tax return."
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND GOVERNING FACTS
This is an unpresented case of first impression for the following
reasons: |
(1) The underlying conspiracy scheme to commit bank fraud in Count
One cbmpletely failed to confer subject matter juriédiction upon
‘the District Coﬁrt. Thereupon, all acts taken by the District
Court throughout the proceedings were taken in the complete ab-.
- sence of all. subject matter jurisdiction. See AppX. P. 6.
'(2) The'Government argued in its Response, "it was not required
and did not have to prové the underlying bank fraud scheme" in
‘Count One, the only scheme set forth in the indictment and the
Government's case-in-chief. See Appx. P. 32-33.
(3) The District Court's fuling that "federal jurisdiction was
established through the Commerée Clause" was a manifest abuse of
discretion and contrary to application of clearly established fe-
deral law, that "courts cannot use the Commerce Clause under Ar-
ticle I to circumvent the éourt's limitatibns of subject matter
jurisdiction power under Article III to assume want of jurisdic-
tion. See Appx. P. 43-44. |
(4) The Panel's manifest abuse of discretion by ignoring, disre-
garding and avoiding its required obligation énd legal duty by
intentionally leaving unanswered a question as to the District
Court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction. |
(5) The local grand jury indictment for conduct and criminal of-
fenses outside its jurisdiction and the District Court's terri-
tofiai jurisdiction. See Appx. P. 29. |

(6) Panel closed Petitionmer's case while his Motions to Dismiss



indictméﬁts wére pending withouf examining the face of the indict-
ment, addressing the jurisdiction question, or ruling one way or
the other. In reviéwing this case as a whole, it is undeniable
this case is unprecedented; one of first.impression, and there is.

" has occurred in

no question a "manifest miscarriage of-justice

the instant case and all acts were taken place in the complete

absénce of all subject matter jurisdiction. Seé Appx. P. 60-66.
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In July 2610,_Petitioner was indicted in a mortgage fraud
case for one counﬁ of conspiracy to commit bank fraud, thé use of
mails and wires in’fhrtherance of the bank fraud and éight counts
of tax fraud. Petifioner-was also indicted two (2) years later for
tWo (2)'counts of tax fraud. The two cases were distinct and un-
related under éeparate indictmenfs and were assigned different
case numbers. However, they.wefe tried simultaneously in avsingle
trial pr§ceeding, but separafe'judgments were.entéred for each
case individually. In eésence,’the indictments were consolidéfed
into one trial (See Appx. P. 54).

In January 2013, a jury céﬁﬁicted Petitioner-on.One count of
lconspiraqy to commit mail fraud although the indictment charged
.conspiracy to commit bank fraud and seven (7) counts of mail‘fraud
in the mortgage fraud case, as well as two (2) counts of tax fraud
" in the tax fraud case. The Appellate Court consolidated both éases
and ordered Petitiomer to file one COA requeét fof both Caées. The
threshold question raised by Petitioner that was unaddressed by
the Panel is whether the District Court lacked subject matter ju-

risdiction, and/or whether there is a jurisdictional defect in



both indictments for failing to state an offense that violated a
criminal statute. | -
On January 22, 2013 Petitloner was tried by a Jury for Mort-

gage Fraud and a separate unrelated case for Tax Fraud that were'

tried 51mu1taneously (SeeAppx P. 54) After the Government closed

its case at trial, Petitioner moved for Judgment of acqulttal in
pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 29 The District Court orally denied
Petltloner s motion, after which defense argued Petitioner's case
before the Jury Upon closing. its case, Petitioner moved for a
second Motion for Acquittal in pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a)

on the same ground, inter alia the Government failed to prove its

" case beyond a reasonable doubt. Namely, a federally insured finan-

cial institution's FDIC-insured status that was defrauded by Peti-
tioner (See Appx. P. 68-69). The District Court intentionally,
constructively amended Count One of the conspiracy indictment from

Conspiracy to commit 'bank fraud" to Comspiracy to commit "mail

- fraud" through the jury instructions (See Appx. P. 33-34, 37). The

jury verdict form found Petitioner guilty of offense charged in,

Count One oflthe indictment (Appx. P. 84). Count One's language

clearly recites conspiracy to commit the underlying substantive
offense of bank fraud pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (See Appx. P.6).

On or about January 15, 2016, Petitioner filed a True Rule

‘60(b)(4) and (6) Motion to Vacate judgment and conv1ct10n for

lack of subject matter Jurisdiction for the Government's fallure
to prove the federally insured financial institution's FDIC-
insured status. On April 21, 2015, the District Court oonstrued

the Motion as a § 2255 Motion to vacate.



On or about April 17, 2017, Petitioner filed a pétition for
Writ of Mandamus in the FifthICircuit of Appeals, compelling the
District Court to.dismiss the Mortgage Fraud indictment and va-
cate Petitioner's judgment and'cényiction for lack of subject mat-
ter jurisdiction due to the Government's failure to proVe the
FDIC-insured status to establish federal jurisdiction in accor-
dance with historical binding precedent in the Fifth Circuit.

On or about July 3, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion to Dis-
miss in ﬁhe'Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals for the defect in the
District Court's subject matter jurisdiction. | '

On August 4, 2017, the District Court wrongfully and sum-
harily denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss for Jurisdictionmal
“Defect that was filed oﬁ September 1, 2016 as moot with prejﬁdice.
- The Order alsb denied Mortgage Fréud § 2255 Motion to Vacate with-
out adjudicating any df the claims raised. The Order held, '"the
Alack of jurisdiction for the Government's failure to prove the fi-
'néncial'institution's FDIC-insured status for the Mail Fraud con-
victions was procedurally barred and.withdut merit." Petitioner' .
has never challeneged the court's jurisdiction of the Mail Fraud
Counts 2-9. Petitioner's~ghéllenge claimvhas always challenged
- only Count One for Conspiracy to commit Bank Fraud. The District
Court failed'to adjudicate all claims raised in. the § 2255 as Well
as the Motion to Vacate challenging the District Court's subject

matter jurisdiction. The District Court also denied the Tax Fraud

§ 2255'Motion that claimed the.indictment failed:to state an of=
fense and failed to address the grand jury's lack of jurisdiction

to indict Petitioner for criminal acts or conduct outside the



Western District of Texas.

On August 16, 2017, the Panel for the Fifth Circuit of Ap-
peals denied Petiﬁioner's Writ of Mandamus without addressing and
determining whgther the District Court lacked subject matte;'ju-
risdiction..The Panel held, 'Brooks' arguﬁeﬁts regrading jurisdic—
tion are currently before the District Court and if the District
Court ruled against Brooks he will have an appellate remedy."

(See ‘Appx. P. 55-56).

On or about Sép;ember 4, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion for‘
Reconsideration in the Distridt Court's ruling that federal juris-
diction was established through the commerce clausé, a clear and
.obvious Violation of ;he Eleventh Amendment, Supreme Court prece-
denf and a cléar_ahd obvious manifest abuse of discretion and po-
wer as wéll as the Court's failure to adjudicate the grounds in
Petitioner's § 2255 (See Appx. P. 43-44) .

On or about December 27,‘2017,‘the District Court construed
Petitioner's Motion for Reconsiderétioh,ﬁFed. R. Civ. P. 59(e) as
a successive § 2255 motioﬁ and summarily denied Petitioner's'mo-.
tion (See Appx. P. 49). |

On or about July 23, 2018, Petitioner filed a Motion to Dis-
miss Invalid Indictment in fhe»Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals for
lack of jurisdiction for failing to state an offense, failing‘to
state the essential element and jurisdictional prerequisite of
the name or identity of tHe federally insured financial institu-
tion and the FDIC-insured status. The Fifth Circuit.failed to ad-
dress énd rule on Petitioner's Motion. This Motion was never ruled

on and Petitioner's case was closed (See Appx. P. 66).



On or about September 10, 2018, the Fifth Circuit Court of
Appeals ruled, "Brooké renews seven (7) claims." (Appx. P. 58-59).
The Panel failed to address these seven (7) ;enewéd claims. The
Panel also held, "Bréoks also éppears to raise, for the first time
in his COA motion eight (8) claims." All claims were raised inm the
District Court and brief in Brooks' § 2255 Motion. The Appellaté
Court has misconstrﬁed claims related fo Count One conspiracy to
' .commit bank fraﬁd.to'"mail fraud indictment" (Appx. P. 57). All
claims made by Petitioner are in reference to Count One conspiracy
to dommit_bank fraud, however, the Panel solély focuses on the
mail fraud counts 2-9; nowhere in any of the Diétrict or Appellate
Court's Orders or rulings does it address or mention "Count One
or thé underlying conspiracy to commit.bank fraud." The Courts
‘have turned a blind eye to the threshqld criminality of thé in-
dictment's subject matter and?fhe Gévernment's case-in-chief that
Petitioner conspired to devise a scheme ﬁo defraud federally in-
sured finaucial institutions. The Courts'have'only focused on the
mail fraud counts that were in furtherance of the bank frapd
scheme that does not exist. The Panel summarily denied Petitio-
ner's‘COA without addressing ény of Petitioner's claims after
ruling seven (75 claims wefe renewed, but went unaddressed (See
Appx. P. 60).

‘On or about October 8, 2018, Petitioner filed a Motion for
Reconsideration in the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals wiﬁh en= -
;1dsed exhibits of § 2255 Motions of showing all claims were
raised and briefed properly in the District Court. Requesting the

Panel to address the lack of jurisdiction and no evidence of a



financial insfitutioh}s.FDIC—insured status to establish fedetal
‘jurisdiction, as well as all claims that were properly raised and
briefed extensively in both § 2255 and COA. | |

On October 10, 2018, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeéls
suﬁmarily denied Motion for Reconsideration without addressing
the squect matter jurisdiction threshold question (See Appx. P.
61).

The November 19, 2018 Panel opinion of the Court of Appeals
denied Supplemental Authority for the July 23, 2018 Motiqn to
Dismiss the invalid indictment for lack of subject matter juris-
diction. The case was closed without the Pamel's ruling:

The April 29,.2019 opinion of the Supreme Court Denying
Writ of Certiorari without addressing the subject matter jurié;
diction threshold question. |
| | ~ ARGUMENT

The core issues in Petitioner's Mortgage and Tax Fraud cases
are whether it is debatable among jurists that the District Court
acted in the "clear absence of all jurisdiction;" The denial by
the Appellate and Qistfict'Coﬁrts appears to take great pains to
igﬁére Pétitioner's most important arguments related‘foAthe Court's"
subject matter jurisdiction issues. These two cases overlap witﬁ' )
one ihportant issue of the District Court's lack of subjéctvmatter
jurisdiction and/or jurisdictionél defect in light of the follo-
wing facfs? (1) the grénd jury in the Western District of Texas
(WDTX) indicted Petitionmer for tax fraud acts that took place
outisde its jurisdiction; i.e., the Northern District of Texas

(NDTX); (2) the mortgage fraud indictment failed to allege the



essential elements and jurisdictional prerequiSite of thevFDIC-'

insured status at the time of the underlylng crime; (3) the D1-

strict Court assumed "hypothetlcal jurisdiction" through the Com-

merce Clause; (4) the constructive amendment of the mortgage fraudf..

indictment through the.jury instructions; (5),both mortgage and
tax fraud indictments fail to state an offense or factnaITallegaL'
tlons, and (6) Count 3 in the tax fraud 1ndlctment is defective |
on its face for charglng an offense by the grand Jury in the WDTX
that occurred in the District of Utah. |
For these reasons, Petitioner would ask this Honorable Court
to determine whether the face of the 1nd1ctments (See Appx P. 6,
28) failed to comply with the statutory Jurlsdlctlonal require-
" ments of: | | -.
(1) 18 U.S.C. § 3231 and Fed. R. Crim. P 7(c) requiring the face
of the indictment to allege in a plain and concise mritten'state-'
ment of the essential elements constituting the offense charged
in langhage‘similar'to that used by the unaerlying relevant sta-
tute 18 U.S.C. § 1344 in Count One; and the relevant statute -
18 U.S.C. § 7206(2) in Counts One and Three of the tax fraud in-
dictment. |
(2) Section 1344, requiring the essential elements and statutory
jurisdiction prerequisite limitations of the name or an identifi-
able federally insured financial institution's FDIC-insured status
at the time of the alleged fraud as well as the element of 'ma- |
terlallty" of falsehood. Thereupon, whether the D1str1ct and Ap-

pellate Courts acted in the clear absence of all subject matter

jurisdiction throughout the entireness of Petitioner's criminal

proceedings.



When an indictment'makes it a crime to defréud a finanéial
institution, and identifiable (and identified) defrauded bank is
elémental to a violation df § 1344. See U.S. v. Farmigon, 934 F.2d
63, 66 (5th Cir. 1991). As well.as, "materiality of falsehoéd is -
an element of the federal bank fréﬁd, mail fraud, and wiré fraud
étatutes;" See Neder v. U.S., 527 U.s. 1, 25 (1999); Where the
indictment fails to state, and the Government féils to sufficient-
ly prove the FDIC-insured status of the,victiﬁ bank, the Circuit
' Courts have unanimously overturned bank fraud convictions for
‘lack of jurisdiction. See e.g., Davis, 735 F.3d at 199 (collec-
ting cases). Therefore, Petitioner's conviction shouldllikewise
be overturned because ﬁhe indictment failed to state the eséén-
tial factual'eleménts of the financial'instifution's name, the
jurisdictionai prerequisite FDIC-insured status, and the Govern-
~ment failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubﬁ that a federally
insured financial imnstitution was.the victim of any fraud. Absent
prbdf there is no federal jurisdiction and the Government con-
ceded there was no proof of‘bank'ffaud and the FDIC-insured sta-
tus in its Résponse motion (See Appx. P. 32-33). This was énough
'_ evidence to end this matter. -

This Court's precedeﬁt‘in Loughrin and Fifth Circuit pre-
cedent in Davis .and Plateﬁburg makes this a straight forward
case presenting no complex legal questions of factual issﬁes. For
more than 35 years, the Fifth Circuit has repeatedly held, "18
U.S.C. § 1344 only punishes the execution of a scheme to defraud
that specifically targets a federally insured fiﬁancial institu-

‘tion protect by the FDIC at the time the fraud was committed. See



| I. SUBJECT MATTER JURiSDICTION
A. COMMERCE CLAUSE

Because federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction,
lower .courts must address as a threshold matter the vital ques-
tion of the District Court's subject matter jurisdiction in Count
One conspiracy '"to defraud a'féderéll insured financial institu-
tion." The Panel held, "this issue was considered by the District
Court and this Court in the proceedings under 18 U.S. C § 2255
and it was determined that the court of conviction had subJect
matter jurisdiction." (See Appx. P. 62). The only consideration
made by the District Court was its determination that "federal
Jurlsdlctlon was establlshed through the Commerce Clause" (See
- AppX. P. 35, 43). This ruling was a direct violation of the Ele-.
. venth Amendment and-a manifest abuse of discretion. '"The Eleventh
‘Amendment restricts thé judicial power under Article III,vand the
Commerce Clause found Article I cannot be used to circumvent the
. constitutional limitations placed upon'federal‘jurisdidtion;"ASee
Seminole Tribe v; Florida, 517 U.S. 14, 72-73 (1996). This federal
jurisdiction determination is anvelement of the‘mail fraud cffense
and not "jurisdictional" in tﬁe sense of bearing on whether or
not the District Court.has subject matter jurisdiction in Count
One conspiracy to defraud é/fedéral1y insured financial institu-
Atioﬁ; See U.S. v. Sealed Appellant, 526 F.3d 214, 243 (5th Cir.
2008). Unlike Section 1344, Section 1341 interstate commerce
clause requirement is an element of that crime and not a juris-
dictional prerequisite to confer sﬁbject matter jurisdiction upon -

the District Court. See U.S. v. Reasor, 418 F.3d 466, 469 (2005).
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B. SECTION 1341 JURISDICTIONAL HOOK

Section 1341 "interstate commerce clause requirement is a-
jurisdictional element or ‘hook' that refers to theAstatutory
provision that requires the Government to estgblish specific
facts justifying the exercise of federal jurisdiction in connec-
tion with any individual application of § 1341. While.jurisdic-
tion in nature, it is merely an element of the offeﬁse,.not a
prerequisite to subject matter jurisdiction.'" See U.S. v. Robin-
son, 119 F.3d 1205, 1212 (5th Cir. 1997). Therefore, there is no
indication in § 1341 for the statutory interstate Commerce Clause
requirement to serve any other purpose in the crime definition
than as the essential element of that specific crime in Counts
2-9 to use the mails. Consequently, the interstate Commerce Clause
is simply a "jurisdictional hook." The District Court instructed
in the voir dire hearing, "the other federal 'jurisdictional
hook'... Congress... made it a violation of the law to use inter-
state carriers to commit fraud." (See Appx. P. 69). The Supreme
Court and this Court's precedent have referred to such statutory
attempts to comply with the Commerce Clause as "jurisdictional
hooks" that refer to a provision in a federal statute that re-
quires the Government to establish specific facts justifying the
exercise of federal jurisdictiom iﬁ connection with any individual
application of that specific statute, such as § 1341 in Counts
2-9, and does not invoke éubject matter jurisdiction upon the
District Court. See U.S. v. Morrison, 529 U.S. 611-12 (2000).
C. EEDERAL JURISDICTION

Where the District Court does not have original subject

11



matter jurisdiction, the Court lacks the threshold jurisdictional
power to attach federal jurisdiction (jurisdictional hook) over
the mail fraud Counts 2-9 interstate Commerce Clause nexus. It is
irrefutable the court's determination was foreclosed by control-
ling Supreme Court precedent in Seminole Tribe and Morrison, Fifth
Circuit precedent in Reasor, explicitly holding, "no jurisdictio-
nal hook, nor any mantric invocation by Congress of its fullest
authority under fhe Commerce Clause caﬁ establish subject matter
jurisdiction" in any manner in the instant case. The court records
and proceedings are completely devoid of any consideration made by
the District and Appellate Courts of how it determined, or where
the Courts found want of subject matter jurisdiction on the facec
of Count One. From the Court's point of view, Count One simply
does not exist, the courts have avoided addressing Count bne's
underlying bank fraud offense. However, the exception of subject
matter jurisdiction cannot be found in the law of the Supreme
Court or Fifth Circuit.
II. SUFFICIENCY OF INDICTMENT.
AL MOTION TO DISMISS INDICTMENT

Supreme Court precedent holds, "the date of filing of the
indictment is the date when subjegt matter jurisdiction is as-.:
sessed." Guapo Dataflux v. Atlas Global Grp., 541 U.S. 567, 569-
70°(2004).

Whether an indictment charges an offense against a Motion
to Dismiss is a subject matter jurisdiction threshold question to
be determined only by examining the face of the indictment and ﬁot

by recourse to the evidence as the District Court ruled in the
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instant case. See Padilla v. U.S., 278 F.2d 188, 190 (5th Cir.
1960). Therefore, the District and Appellate Courts have an inde-
pendent 1egal'duty to examine the face of the indictments. Without
disputing and taking notice of the fact that the indictments failed
to state the essential factual elements of an offense to confer
subject matter jurisdiction upon the District Court, for the pur-
pose of Petitioner's motion to dismiss. See U.S. v. Fontenot, 665
F.3d 660, 644 (5th Cir. 2011). Federal courts are required to limit
their discussion in a subject matter jurisdiction appeal to the fa-
cial sufficiency of the allegations of the indictment. "Such ques--
tions as weighing of the proof of evidence should not be determined
in a motion to dismiss an indictment.'" See U.S. v. Cabrera-Teran,
168 F.3d 141, 143 (5th Cir. 1999). By weighing the evidence, the.
District Court failed to adhere to the fundamental principle that
in reviewing the sufficiency of an indictment a court must look
only at the allegations and determine whether a criminal offense
has been stated. See U.S. v. Dersch, 20 F.3d 139, 145 (5th Cir.
1994). | | |
B. VICTIMS

The Supreme Court held that, "statutory language may be‘used

in the indictment to describe the offense, but it must be accom-
panied with such a statement of facts and circumstances as will in-
form the accused of the specific offense, coming under the general
description wifh which he is charged." See Hamling v. U.S., 418
U.S. 87, 117-18 (1974). The Sixth Amendment guarantees the right of
an accused "to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusa-

tion." "The nature of the conspiracy to commit bank fraud offense
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charged requires the existence of a 'victim' in brdéf.fbr,a.crime
to have been committed. The identities of the 'Vicfim' are at 'the
very core of criminality'." Russell v. U.S;, 369 U.S. 749, 764
(1962). "Such requirements prevent the prosesution from feeling
'free to fill in this vital missing element, in a way, whish cdn-
stitutionally grave whether‘or not its highly.prdbable to name or
identify someone different from the one intended by the grand ju-
;y'." "A prosecutorial power 'to roam at large' in this fashion

is not allowable." Russell at 768-771. However, the indictment in
this‘instént case failed to identify or name the financial insti-
tution. The Indictment Clause of the Fifth Amendment reguires

that an indictmenf contain some amount of factual particularity
to ensure that the prosecution will not fill inm elements of its
case with facts other than those considered by the grand jury,
such as the constructive amendment of Count One.(See Appx. P. 33).
See Russell at 770. |

III. ACQUITTAL

A. 'THE JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENT FOR CONSPIRACY WHEN THE
UNDERLYING OFFENSE IS BANK FRAUD

This writ is premised on the legal fact that the District

Court was in error when it’denied the Petitioner's motion for

‘acquittal pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a) at trial (See Apbx.
P. 67-68). Whereas, the record clearly establishes withoﬁt'ddubt
. that the subject financial insfitutions_that were allegedly de-:
frauded were FDIC insured at the time the offenses occurred (See
 Appx. P. 6). Although the defendant's counsel failed to argue

this specific defect to the court is without moment. "The Defen-

dant is allowed to claim at any time the government failed to
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®
provide sufficient evidence to prcve the jurisdictional'element -
post-verdict." U.S. v. Trice, 82.3 F.2d 80, 86-87 (5th Cif. 1987),
and "That the defendant failed to move for acqu1tta1 due to the
. insufficiency of - ‘the ev1dence of the Jurlsdlctlon 1ssue is... of
no moment." U.S. v. Schultz, 17 F.3d 725, 728 (Sth-Clr 1987)
The court is therefore compelled to review all Of-thedadmlssable<
evidence which was introduced by the‘Government at trial'and:the
reasonable interferences which flow there-frOm'in a light most fa+‘
vorable to the verdict, in order to properly determlne whether a
reasonable trier of the facts could conclude or find that the Go-
vernment prov1ded sufficient proof of every element of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1344 beyond a reasonable doubt. Except there was no evidence of
the essential element and jurisdictional prerequisite of the fi-
nancial institutions FDIC-insured status introduced in trial by
the Government for the court to review. Moreover, the Government
admitted there was no evidence (See Appx. P. 32-33). The Govern-
ment's failure to provide proof during trial that a defrauded
financial institutions were insured by the FDIC at the time the
offenses occurred effectively deprive the District Court of sub- -
ject matter jurisdiction to impose the conviction and sentence
against Petitioner.

In order to.establish federal jurisdiction in a prosecution'
for bank fraud under § 1344, the Government must prove thatvthe
banks involved were federally insured. See Loughrin, 573 U.S. at
356; "Proof of federally insured status of the victim financial
institution for § 1344 is a jurisdictional prerequisite as well

as an essential element of the offense.” See U.S. v. Platenburg,
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657 F.2d 797, 799 (1981); U.S. v. Murrah, 478 F.2d 762, 764'(5th‘
Cir. 1973) ("Proof of FDIC insured status is a requirea eleﬁent
of proof of thé offense. Indeed it is necessary to allege and,
prove it to establish federal jurisdiction.'"). But proof that the
"offense is committed in the manner therein described" in(Cpuﬁt |
One (that is, that a federally insured financial instifutidn was,
defrauded and, thus, that facts exist 'tying the proécribed’goﬁ?
duct to the area df_federal cdncern") is exactly what is-miésing*
in Pefitioner's case. The Govérnment failed and admittéd it failed '
to prove that the financial institution was federéily-insﬁfédvat
the time of the.fradd (See Appx. P. 32-33), and this Court and
the Fifth Circuit agreed that Petitioner could not therefore pro-
prerly be convicted of violating § 1344. The District Court and
Appellate Court nonetheiess upheld the conspiracy‘conviction.

The failure to préve insured status in this case is’thus
akin to the federal conspiracy having been impossible - that is,
as if the banks were not in fact federally insured. Because con-
spiracy law punishes only the agreement. See U.S.'§. Feola, 420
U.S. 671, 694 (1975). As Feola recognized, "Federal comcerns are
sufficiently implicated by a conspiracy for the purposes of a
jurisdiction when the underlying offenses are éhown to be actu-
ally tied to the federal interests identified by Congress." Id.
at 695. Therefore, because no evidence submitted at Petitionmer's
trial establishes any connection whatsoever to federal law or
federal interests, either by proving an actual connection or an
intended connection, there is simply no way for a federal court

to assert jurisdiction over the matter.
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The District Court relieved the Government of its duty to
prove every element of the crimé charged in the indictment beyond
a reasonable doubt in violation of the Constitution. As this Court
holds in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477 (2000) ("A cri-
minal defendant is entitled to a jury determination that he is
guilty on every element of the crime which he is charged, beyond
a reasonable doubt."). |
IV. JURY INSTRUCTIONS
A. CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT

In an effort to cure the lack of subject matter jurisdic=
tional defect and to find want of jurisdiction in the mortgage
fraud case, the District Court intentionally constructively amen-
ded Count One of the indictment through the jury instructions
from a conspiracy to commit bank fraud to conspiracy to commit
mail fraud. The District Court redacted the underlying bank fraud
statute, the essential element and the jurisdictional prerequisite
.of the indictment relieviﬁg the Government of its burden of proofv
of the underlying bank fraud crime (See Appx. P. 33-34, 37). When
a Grand Jury indicts a defendant the Fifth Amendment grants the
defendant the right to be tried solely on the Grand Jury's alle-
gatiosn. Despite the' Fifth Amendment guarantee, the Government
persuaded the grand jury to indict Petitiéner on a bank fraud con-
spiracy of which, undef then controlling law, alleged no crime at
all. The Government drafted Count One knowing it was subject .to
dismissal‘under binding Supreme Court precedent and every Appel-
late Circuit's controlling precedent, but with the expectation all

of Count One could sustain a conviction by intentionally inducing
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the District Court to const;uctively amend the indictment through
the jury instructions (See Appx. 33-34, 37). If proven, "such an
amendment violates a defendant's right to be tried solely on the
allegations returned by the grand jury and requires reversal."
Stirone v. U.S., 361 U.S. 212-18 (1960). "Constructive amendment
occurs when the jury is permitted to convict the defendant upon a
factual basis that effectively modifies an essential element of
the offense charged." U.S. v. Doucet, 994 F.2d 169, 172 (5th Cir.
1993). Constructive amendment of an indictment requires reversal
of the conviction.-In the instant case, the Government and Di-
strict Court's conduct rose to the level of '"conscious shocking',
as well as Trial Counsel's deficient performance for failure to
object to the construcfive amendment of the indictment and Appel-
late Counsel's deficient performance for failure to raise the
clear and obvious amendment 6n direct appeal.

In the Government's filed Response on November 2, 2016, the
Government submitted into evidence the original jury instructions
submitted to the Court which were read to the jury as Government
"Exhibit A" (See Appx. P. 37). In reviewing the Government's "Ex-
hibit A" jury instructions for the first time to Petitioner's
knowledge the newly discovered evidence reveal the jury instruc-

tions given were labeled "Pattern Jury Instructiom. §2.15A (Con-

spiracy to Commit Offense) Criminal Case, United States Fifth Cir-

cuit Distri;t.Judges,Association,02015,modified,(written"fo: Ti-

tle 18, Upiteq"States_Code,ﬂSection_371,,but.applicableﬂtonTitlg

18, United $tatesﬂCode,”SeCtiqn,1349; Petitioner was not indicted

by the Grand Jury under § 371. In fact, the Grand Jury specifi-

cally indicted Petitioner for conspiracy to devise a "scheme' to
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defraud "federally insured financial institutions" in violation
of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (See Appx. P. 6, 38).
B.  CONSPIRACY ELEMENTS

The indictment fails to allege directly or indirectly that
the Grand Jury charged Petitionér with any crimes that violate
Title 18, United States Code § 371. Although Title 18 can be
charged under both § 371 and § 1349, it is plain that each sec-
tion requires proof of a unique element not required by the other.
See U.S. v. Grant, 683 F.3d 643 (5th Cir. 2012). Petitioner's po-
sition is further supported by the Government's own argument in
the Jones case, 'that the elements in § 1349 and § 371 are diffe-
rent in several ways. First, the conspiracy under § 371 require
proof of an overt act, while the conspiracy charge in Count One
under § 1349 does not." Even though the indictmenf alleged overt
acts in connection with the charge under § 1349, it was not re-
quired to do so and those overt acts are not elements of the crime.
Id. Second, § 1349 requires proof that the conspirators agreed to
~violate a statute in Chapter 63 of Title 18, while § 371 requires
>no such proof. Third, and perhaps most persuasively, Count One in
the instant case require proof that the conspirators agreed to
violate 18 U.S.C. § 1344 to defraud a federally insured financial
institution. See U.S. v. Jones, 733 F.3d 574, 584 (5th Cir. 2013).
Copsequently, the two conspiracy statutes, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 and
18 U.S.C. § 371, each requires proof of a unique element not re-
quired by the other and therefore each offense was'textually di-
stinct from the other under the Blockburger test. See Blockburger

v. U.S., 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). "The Blockburger analysis
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focuses on the‘proof neCessary to prove the'ététutory’elementé
- of each offense, rather than the actual evidence to be presented
at trial." Illinois v. Vitale, 447 U.S. 410, 446 (1980). "In ma-
king that determination, we look not just at the element of the
statute, But also how the offenses were charged in the indicfment
and presenfed'at_trial;"vUTS. v. Ogba, 526'F.3d'214; 232-33 (5th
Cir. 2008). It is a fundamental principle of law, settled by fhe
>decisions of thé Supreme Court and of the Fifth Circuit that § 371
‘is completely inapplicable in the instant case. |

There were three fundamental problems created by the elimi-
nation of the improper bapk fraud objectives from Count One.
First, the allegations of é scheme to defraud the banks were so
_pervasive that compléte elimination of them would eviscerate the
indictment, leaving great gaps in the written document as well as
~ the government's case. Second, the indictment was organized so
that all the substantive counts, which were supported by the exi-
sting law, depended for their contextzon the allegations of a’
conspifacy to defraud the banks'(SeeﬂAppx. P. 86). If theséaalle—
gations were redacted, the substantive counts of mail fraud would
be in furtheramce of no underlying scheme. Aftér'the court. redac-
ted the.bank-fréud allegations from Coun; One, the nature of this
case, certainly thé compleXion of this case, is quite differenf
once you take out the real guts‘of the conspiracy charge, which
is really what this case is all about. Third, the question_of the
~existence of FDIC insurance was noﬁ submitted to the jury as an
element of the offense chérged, and consequently the jury failed

to find a crucial and jurisdictional element of the alleged crimes:
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As to the accusation of having defrauded an identifiéble or named
federally insured financial institution, it was neithér'stated
in the indictment, proved, nor‘found. Furthermore, there were no
allegations in the indictment or evidence in trial that the United
States or one of its agencies was a victim of fraud. The Falcon
court held, "A federally insured financial institution is not a
federal agency under § 371." ﬁ.S. v. Falcone, 934 F.2d 1528, 1535
(11th Cir. 1991). It is uncontested that Petitioner waé not charged
with committing or defrauding the United States. It is undeniable
the constructive amendment of the indictment was a clear errof and
manifest abuse of discretion by the District Court and the Panel
abused its discretion by failing to correct the obvious error that
clearly affected Petitioner's substantial rights. See U.S. v. Jara-
Favela, 686 F.3d 289, 299 (5th Cir. 2012).

The constructive amendment of an indictment circumvents the
Grand Jury Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States
Conétitution, U.S. Const. Amend. V, and it takes place when the
eséential clements of the offense contained in the indictment are
altered to broaden the possible bases for conviction beyond what
is contained in the indictment. If is undeniable that cbnspiracy
to commit mail fraud was beyond what is contained in the indict-
ment. A constructive amendment is a reversible error. U.S. v.
McKenzie, 678 F.2d 629, 631 (5th Cir. 1982).(holding that an in-
dictment may be dismissed "when prosecutorial misconducts amounts
to overbearing the will of the Grand Jury so that the indictment
isy in effect;:that of a prosecutor rather than the Grand Jury.'!)

Stirone at 218. ("The very purpose of the requirement that a man
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be indicted by a Grand Jury is to limit his jeopardy to offenses
charged by a group of his fellow citizens acting independently of
either prosecuting attorney or judge.").

V. FIFTH AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS CLAUSE

A. :. EQUAL PROTECTION

The Equal Protection Clause requires the Governmént to
treat similar situated individuals in fact and law to be treated
alike as though they were the same. As it pertains to the instant
_case there was one identical (Perez-Ceballos) and one similarly
situated (London) case as Petitioner's case published in the Fifth
Circuit one before and ome after Petitiomer's case was decided
and original Writ was filed in this Court. All three cases were
decided by the Panel within 70 days of each other.

On August 15, 2018, ‘the Fifth Circuit reversed London's
three bank robbery convictions for insufficient proof of the
banks' FDIC-insured status. See U.S. v. London, 2018 U.S. App.
Lexis 22995 (5th Cir. 2018).

On September 10, 2018, the Panel'wrongfully and summarily
denied Petitionmer's Motion to Vacate for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction and COA for jurisdictional defects due to insuffi-
ciency of the evidence for lack of EDIC-insured status. '

On October 12, 2018, the Panel wrongfully denied Petitio-
ner's Motion for Reconsideration due to jurisdictional defect and
insufficiency of the evidence.’

On Octoberv24; 2018, the Panel vacated Perez-Ceballos' Bank
Fraud conviction because there was no evidence of the bank's
FDIC-insured status. (See U.S. v. Perez-Ceballos, 907 F.3d 863
(5th Cir. 2018). A '

In Enquist v. Oregon Dept. of Agric. holds, "when those who appear
similarly situated are nevertheless treated differently, the Equal
Protection Clause requires at least a rational reason for the

difference." 553 U.S. 591, 602 (2008). "An equal protection claim

can in some giréumstances be sustained even if the plaintiff has

not alleged class-based discrimination, but instead that s/he has
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been irrationally singled out." Id. at 601. In reviewing the Perez-
Ceballos and London cases it appears Petitioner has Been irratio-
nally singled out due to his position as a pro se litigant opposed
to a litigant who is priviledged to be represented byﬂcounsel
before the courts throughout post-conviction proceedings.
Identical to Petitioner's case, in Perez-Ceballos, and si-
milar in London's, the Government failed in trial to prove beyond
a reasonable doubt proof of the bank's FDIC-insured status. In
fact, Perez-Ceballos was charged with conspiracy in violation of -
§ 1349 and 1344, the identical statutes Petitioner was charged
with violating. Also identical to Petitioner's timely move for a
judgment of acquittal, Perez-Céballos and London both timely
moved for a judgment of acquittal. It's undeniable that identi-
cal and similarly situated litigants were treated differently by
the previous Panel's decision in Perez-Ceballos and London's case
than the Panel in Petitioner's case. A prima facia case is made
on the face of the indictment, the Government's admission and
the wrongful denial of Petitioner's lack of subject matter juris-
diction claims and insufficiency of the evidence. Under the Fifth
Amendment's Due Process Clause, the Government and the Panel's
erroneous decision clearly violated Petitioner's constitutional
rights as well as the firm rule of the Fifth Circuit "that one

panel may not overrule the decisions of another."

U.S. v. Taylor,
933 F.2d 307, 313 (5th Cir. 1991).

The Windsor court held, "The Due Process Clause Amendment,
- U.S. Const. Amend. V, forbids the federél government or any fe-

deral actors from 'denying to any person the equal protection of

the laws.'" U.S. v. Windsor, 570 U.S. 744, 774 (2013). Moreover,
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the Supreme Court holds, "To sustain a conviétion'under § 1344,
the Government must prove FDIC-insured status.ﬁlseé Léughrin, 573 .
U.S. at 356. Nevertheless, thé Panel in the instant case abused
its discretion by disregarding and failing to adhére to the con-
trolling decisions of the Supreme Court. See Hutto v. Davis, 454
U.S. 370, 375 (1982). ("Federal District Coﬁrts and Circuit Courts
are bound to adhere to the dontrolling decisions of the Supreme
Court.") Furthermore, Judge Willett sat on the Panel that vacated
Perez-Ceballos' bank fraud conviction and Judge Willett also sat
~on the Panel that denied Petitioner's COA and failed to address
Petitioner's subject matter jurisdiction threshold question in

his motions to dismiss (See Appx. P. 64-66).

There's no question the Panel's wrongful denial in Petitio-
ner's case was clearly intentional and egregious, opposed to an
identical and similarly situated groups with the Fifth Circuit in
violation of the Equal Protection Clause. The question for this
Couft to determine is whether Petitioner has a constitutional
right to be treated like Perez-Ceballoé and London? The Panel in
Quib held, "This Equal Protection Clause is essentially a direc-
tive that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike."
d;ib‘v. Strass, 11 F.3d, 488, 492 (5th Cir. 1993).

VI. TAX FRAUD
A. GRAND JURY JURISDICTION

Petitioner would ask this Honorable Court to determine whe-
ther it was a violation of Petitioner's Fifth Amendment rights
for a federal grand jury in the Western District of Texas (WDTX)

to return an indictment for, if any at all, crimes that occurred
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wholly outside Texas in the District of Utah and the Northern Di-
strict of Texas_(NDTX). As well as whether Counts One and Three
failed to allege in a written statement the essential factual
elements of an offense in violation of the laws against the Uni-
ted States (See Appx. P. 28-30). |

The Government intentionally violated Petitioner's Consti-
tutional rights regarding the tax fraud indictment when it pre-
sented the instant case to the Grand Jury, located in the WDTX,
for acts that purportedly occurred in the WDTX for a criminal of-

fense that took place ‘sole}y in the. NDTX. The Government was fully

aware that Petitioner's purported conduct occurred solely in the
NDTX and in an attempt to high-jack jurisdiction from the NDTX
to WDTX, it falsely represented té thé grand jury that Petitio--
ner's acts took place in the WDTXl The grand jury in.this case
ﬁever had jurisdiction to indict Petitiomer for Tax Fraud Counts.
The Fifth Circuit has observed, "The dangers of abuse are mani-
fold if the Government can obtain an indictment in a District
other than the District where the offense was actually committed
merely alleging that an act was committed in that District. Green
v. U.S., 309 F.2d 852 (5th Cir. 1962).

The Fifth Circuit has held, "by virtue of 18 :U.S.C. 3237(a)
that when a violation of 26 U.S.C. 7206(2) venue properly lies
where the tax return is prepared and signed even though received
and filed elsewhere.", U.S. v. Bryan, 896 F.2d 68, 72 (Sth Cir.
1990). "Fraudulent tax returns, in vielationm of 26 U.S.C. 7206(2)
a continuing offense and looking to the address listed for the

tax preparer to determine venue.'" U.S. v. Westbrook, 858 F.3d 317’
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327 (5th Cir. 2017). The only evidence introduced in trial by the
Government was Petitioner's tax returns. The tax returné clearly
show the tax pfeparér's office address_was located at Stephen |
Scheller's office at 6230 N. Beltline Rd., Suite 340 in Irving,
Texas 75063 withih the NDTX (See’Appx. P. 74).VBaéed on these
facts and applying the Fifth Amendment Right to be indicted .-by a
grand jury within the District where the criminal offense was
committed,APetitibner's Sixth Amendment Right to have his trial
decided by'a jury of the State and District wherein the crime
shall have been committed was violated. As well as Sixth Amend-
meﬁt Right to effective assistance of counéel. "In tandem these
Amendments mean that a grand jury should return an indictment
only in a district where venue lies." U.S. v. Cabrales, 524 U;S.
1; 10 (1998). "The common law practice antecedent to the Fifth
Amendment guarantee allowed only the grand jury-of the county
where the crime was committed in indict." Cessa, 856 F.3d at 372.
Both the venue and térritorial jurisdiction of a federal district
court in criminal cases depend on some part of the criminal acti-
vity having occurred within its territory. See 18 U.S.C. § 3231,
§ 3237, § 3332(a); Fed. R.CrimP. 18; U.S. v. Lutton, 486 F.2d
1021, 1023 (5th Cir. 1973).(See Appx. P. 72). The Government has
the burden of proof that the location of criminal activity be
established by a préponderance of fhe evidence. Cauley v. U.S.,
355 F.2d 175 (5th Cir. 1966). The Government failed to produce a
scintilla of evidence that any conduct referenced in the tax fraud
indictment occurred in the WDTX. The Government was well aware

Petitioner and his CPA were located solely in the NDTX, where the
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only search warrant and investigation in the tax fraud took place.

Section 3332 of the Organized.Crime Control Act‘of71970vwas

designed to guard against the possibility of government corrup-
tion. Sargeant v. Dixon, 130 F.3d 1067, 1068 D.C. Cir. 1997).
Section 3332 provides, "It shall be the duty of'éach grand jury
impaneled within any judicial district to inquire into offenses
against the criminal laws of the United States alleged to have
been committed within that district." (See Appx. P. 71). In fact,
federal prosecutors are instructed as a matter of policy not to
ask their local grand juries to indict faraway crimes. Sée U.sS.
Attorney's Manuel 9-11.121, "A case should not be presented to a
grand jury in a district unless venue for the offense lies in
that district." The Fifth Circuit has held,'"A grand jury should
return an indictmént only in‘a district where venue lies. Cessé,
856 F.3d at 372. Notwithstanding the Constitutional prior Panel
precedent rule, statutory provisions and its own policy, the pro-
secutor in Petitioner's case asked the local grand jury in the
WDTX to indict Petitioner for crimes that they were well aware
were committed solely in the NDTX. Furthermore, the Government in
U.S. v. Griffin concedes that, "a federal grand jury may return
indictments only for crimes committed within the district in
which it sits." 814 F.2d 806, 809 (1st Cir. 1987).

The Government, in this case, intentionally violated the
constitution, statutory provisions, federal rules of criminal
procedure and its own policy by asking the grand jury in the WDTX
to indict Petitioner for alleged offenses that were committed in

the NDTX. These rules and policy were specifically to protect
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Petitioner and guard against the exact misconduct of the Govern-
ment in this instant case. Nevertheless, the Government intentio-
nally disregarded th¢ Act and both Trial and Appellate Counsel
were deficient for failing to provide Petitionmer his Sixth Amend-
ment Constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. See
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Trial Counsel
never advised Petitioner that he had the comstitutional right to
seek the dismissal of the Tax Fraud counts due to the criminal
acts not being committed in the WDTX. Trial Counsel, after liste-
ning to the Government's presentation of its case, never realizéd
the jurisdiction and venue were not proper, even though the evi-
dence presented by the Government established that all of Peﬁié
tioner's purported acts that constituted the basis of the Tax
Fraud counts occurred in the NDTX.
B. LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

Looking at the face of the Tax Fraud Indictmeﬁt, it is un-
deniable the indictment lacked subject matter jurisdictioﬁ for
failing to state an offense (See Appx. P. 28-30). The Panel in
Scruggs held, "We look only at the face of the indictment to as-
sess subject matter jurisdiction." U.S. v. Scruggs, 691 F.3d 660,
668 (5th Cir. 2012). Count One and Three recite verbatim the ci-
tations to the statute and there were no written statements of
facts or allegations. "The written statements, rather than the
citations or statutes, have loﬁg been considered the controlling
features of an indictment." See U.S. v. Garcia, 954 F.2d 273, 276
(5th Cir. 1992). The indictment failed to state any act to invoke

the Court's jurisdiction and completely relied on the statutes
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district and prdvides that this may be done 0n1y on motion of

the defendant." See Fed. R. Crim. P. 21. Fed. R. Crim. P. 18, in
contrast, governs intradistrict transfers, only to convenience
and prompt administration in the District Court's'disctetion,

not the Petitioner or the Government's discretioﬁ;AThe Govern-
ment's emails intentionally circumvented and Violatéd thé Federal
Rules of Criminal Procedures, as well as Petitionér's Constitu-
tional rights, jurisdiction cannot be conferred, waived, consén-
ted or agreed to outside the territorial jurisdiction where the
offense occurred and cannot be transferred to another district
court without a proper legal motion from Petitioner. The Court's
records are completely devoid of any motions of transfer by Peti-
tioner or order of a venue fransfer by the District Court. See
Cotton, 535.U.S. at 630. The Government and potentially Trial
Counsel intentionally mislead and decelved Petitioner.

The District Court held in its memorandum ruling, 'venue
was proper in the Western District of Texas (WDTX) because seve-
ral mortgage lenders wére located in the Western District (See ]
Appx. P. 44-45). The Court's ruling was a manifest abuse of dis-
cretion and erroneous. First, the Mortgage and Tax Fraud indicts-
ments were unrelated (See Appx. P. 53). Second, in U.S. v. John-
son, the Supreme Court held, "It is settled that, in a criminal
case, venue must be .narrowly construed; and venue must be proper
for each separate count of a multi-count indictment.'" 323 U.S.
273, 276 (1994). "The Government must establish venue by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence, and venue must be proper for undispu-

table that the evidence and testimony in the tax fraud offenses
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for stating an offense. The Fifth Circuit noted that, "A statu-
tory citation in the indictment cannot, by itself, substitute for
éetting forth a statement of the elements of the offemnse." U.S.
v. Ramirez=-Gomez, 171 F.3d 709, 714-15 (Sth Cir. 2002). See also
Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B). It is undeniable the indictment in
the instant case suffers from a jurisdictional defect, therefore,
the judgment is void.
C. TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION

Prior to the Grand Jury's issuance of the Tax Fraud Indict-
ment, Trial Counsel informed Petitioner that accoraing to the
Government, the Tax Fraud counts could be indicted and tfied:
either in San Antonio Division or Austin Division of the WDTX
(See Appx. P. 75-80). Petitioner was charged solely with aiding
in the preparation of tax returns, he was not charged with filing
false tax returns (See Appx. P. 81). Therefore, pursuant to ju-
dicial precedent venue was required to be in the NDTX, and Peti-
tioner never waived his venue rights to the NDTX. See Bryan, 896
F.2d at 72. Improper venue waiver is not a waiver where Petitioner
has no actual or constructive knowledge of venue defect. The Fifth
Circuit held, "Wai§er is the voluntary, intentional relinguishment
of a known right." U.S. v. Andino-Ortega, 608 F.3d 305, 308 (5th
Cir. 2010). There is no question Petitioner did not know he had
a Constitutional right to be indicted and tried omnly in the NDTX,
the District and the search warrant was granted and executed (See
Appx. .P. 79). And Petitioner did not agree to transfer jurisdic=
tion from the NDTX to the Grand Jury in the WDTX for fhe issuance
of an indictment. In fact, it ﬂas been well settled that, "The

Féderal Rules of Criminal Procedure governs transfers to another
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took‘place sdlely in the NDTX.'It's automatic that the prosecu-
tion must always prove territorial jurisdiction over a crime in
order to sustain é conviction." U.S. v. Benson, 495 F.2d 475, 481
(5th Cir. 1974), and thus-territorial'jurisdiction and venue are
"essential elements of ‘any offense in the sense that the burden
is on the prosecutor to prdve their existence. There's no qués-’
tion or evidence presented in trial that the Govermment failed
to prove the'juréidiction of the grand jury and territorial juris-
diction of the trial in the WDTX. -

This Court held, "whatever the scope of the Court's inhe1. 
‘rent power, it does not includé the power to'develop rules that
circumvent or conflict with Constitutional prévisions; statutory
provisions and the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure."'Carlisle'
v. U.S. 416, 426 (1990). See also Whitmore v. Arkansas, 495 U.S.
149; 155-56 (1990). (A federal court is powerless to create its
own jurisdiétion by embellishing otherwisé deficient allegations
of standiﬁg.) A federal court must fulfill its independent obli-
gation to assure itself that jurisdiction is proper. A federal
court's subject matter juriédiction extends only so far as the
Congress provides by statute and is strictly limited to agency
action(s) included therein. Since jurisdiction grants the power
to declare the law, it is incumbent upon a court to determine it
is acting within the sphere of its legitimate authority. Because
subject matter jurisdiction goeé uniquely to the fundamental ﬁo-
wer of the federal courts to hear a case, there is no reason why
an appellate court should potentially compound an error of the

district court by assuming it has jurisdiction.'See Steel Co.,
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523 U.S. at 101-02 ("'For a court to pronounce upon the meaning
or the constitutionality of a state or fedefal'law when it has
no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a court to

act ultra vires.")

VII. CONCLUSION

Thé District Court and Panel go to great leﬁgths to distbrt
Petitioner's subject matfer jurisdiction claims, in an effort 'to
avoid the indisputable fact that, pursuant to Loughrin, Perez-
Cebéllos, Platenburg and Davis, both indictments failed té con;
fer subject matter jurisdiction upon the District Court. Any au-
thority exe;cised is a usurped authority. In addition, both the
Conspiracy and Tak Fraud indictments failed to state an offense.
More concerning is the fact that the grand jury in the WDTX lacked
jurisdicfion in the Tax Fraud indictment since every act odcurred
outéide its district in the NDTX. The Government failed to meét;‘
its required obligation by law to introduce evidence that proves
Petitioner's criminal offense occurred in the gfand jury's juris-
diction and the'territofiél jurisdiction of the District Court
‘within.the WDTX. The Government's admission that it failed to
prove the underlying conspiracy to commit bank fraﬁd to establish
subject matter jurisdiction in the Distfict Court was a clear
~ usurpation of the District Court's power, if it had any at all in
thé’first’plaéé. For the exercise of such authority, when the want
of jurisdiction is known; no_exuée is permissible t6 act in’ the
.absence: of subject matter jurisdiction.Therefore, the District
Court jurisdictional error was egregious and'the_judgment‘should

be treated as void. The Government's theory a11 along and the
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proof edduced_at t:ial, at.most, proved ohly that'Defendant and
indepehdent private mortgage lenders might have illegitimately,
hot unlawfully, formed a close relations to obtain money in ex-
ehénge for residential property.

For the District Court to pronounce the meaning or the con-
stitutionality of a federal law when it has no jutisdiction to do-
so, by very definition, is for a court to act ultra vires. When a
court without federal jurisdiction eonvicts and sentences'é defen-
dent, the conviction and sentence are void from their inception
and femain Void~long after a defendant has fully suffered their
direct force. | |

It's.irrefutable Petitioner's Constitutional Rights to a
fair trial were violated under the:

(1) Fifth Amendment Indictment Clause right to be tried on
charges alleged in a faeially valid indictment; returned by a
1ocal-grand jury in-the district in which the offense was ‘commit-
ted and acted on the‘baSie of adeqﬁate and competent evidence as
chatéed? .

(2) Fifth Amendment Due Ptocess Clause equal protection eompge
nent, that guarantees under fedefel laws to every individual in
" the United .States, that the Government treat all 1dent1cal and
similarly situated alike. Except in thlS case that guaranteed
edual protection does not.exist; |

(3) Sixth'Amemdhent guaranteed right to a jufy trial requiring
the Government to present proof beyond a reesonable doubt of eve-
ry indictment element of the crime charged in the: (1) conspiracy

1nd1ctment to dev1se a scheme to defraud federally 1nsured finan-

cial institutions; and (ii) tax fraud indictment to aid and a851st'
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in the preparation of fraudulent tax returns in the WDTX and the
District of Utah;
(4) Sixth Amendment Counsel Clause; guaranteedAright to effec--
tive assistance of trial and'a?pellate counsel.
There's,no other case cited iﬁ the Supreme Court or Circuit
‘Courts that allows the District Court to establish subject matter

1A

jurisdiction through the commerce clause "jurisdictional hook."

In fact, there's no other case cited in a federal court in which
such a sequence of events occurred throughout the proceedings in
both the District and Appellate Courts in Petitioner's case. It's
‘irrefutable Petitioner suffered a complete miscarriage of justice.
This Writ of Prohibition and/or maﬁdamﬁs is necessary to correct
the fundamental miscarriage of justiee in Petitioner's ease, Where
the»violation of Petitioner's constitutional rights resulted in
‘his conviction, and Petitioner's actually innocent of all charges.

It's clear and undisputable Petitionervhas'shown a Writ of
Prohibition is apprepriate in the instant case where the.Distfiet
Court proceeded wrongiy in'the clear_absence of all subject mat-
ter jurisdiction. Therefore, this Court hqlds, "A court may issue
a Writ of Prohibition where the District Court assdmed jurisdice

"

tion of a matter beyond its legal cognizance, as the District

Court assumed jurisdiction through the commerce clause beyond its

f

legal cognizance.

Respectfully Sﬁbmitted,

@M/

Robert
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the forégoing is

true and correct to the best of'my knowledge and belief.

A
Executed this 22 day of November 2019.

Respectfully Submitted,

%//A%é

Robe . ooks, Pro Se
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